University of New Mexico UNM Digital Repository

Biomedical Sciences ETDs

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Spring 7-1-2017

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN WEIGHT STATUS, DEMOGRAPHIC VARIABLES AND HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE IN NEW MEXICO ADOLESCENTS

ukeme umoh

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/biom_etds Part of the <u>Medicine and Health Sciences Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

umoh, ukeme. "RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN WEIGHT STATUS, DEMOGRAPHIC VARIABLES AND HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE IN NEW MEXICO ADOLESCENTS." (2017). https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/biom_etds/166

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at UNM Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Biomedical Sciences ETDs by an authorized administrator of UNM Digital Repository. For more information, please contact disc@unm.edu.

Ukeme Umoh

Candidate

Biomedical Sciences
Department

This thesis is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication:

Approved by the Thesis Committee:

Shiraz I.Mishra, MBBS, PhD Chairperson

Alberta Kong, MD, MPH

Denece Kesler, MD, MPH

Olivia Hopkins, MD, MSCR

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN WEIGHT STATUS, DEMOGRAPHIC VARIABLES AND HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE IN NEW MEXICO ADOLESCENTS

ΒY

UKEME UMOH

BACHELOR OF MEDICINE, BACHELOR OF SURGERY MASTER OF PUBLIC HEALTH

THESIS

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science Biomedical Sciences

The University of New Mexico Albuquerque, New Mexico

July, 2017

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To God be the Glory. God, who is faithful, will surely finish what He has started.

I am entirely grateful to Dr Alberta Kong, my mentor, without whom this thesis would not have been possible. To my committee chairman- Dr Shiraz Mishra, to Dr Mary Ramos, Dr Betty Skipper and Ms Jennifer Bryant, thank you so much for the invaluable advice and guidance given to me during the process of working on this thesis. I am highly indebted to Dr Elizabeth Jimenez for all that she did to make this manuscript what it is today.

To Dr Denece Kesler and Dr Olivia Hopkins, I wish to express my profound gratitude to you for giving me the opportunity to be part of the UNM Preventive medicine program and in the process, do a Masters in Clinical Research.

To my family and friends, thank you so much for all the prayers and words of encouragement.

To my husband, Daniel Umoh; my children, Promise and Daniel, I will forever be grateful to you for your patience and all the support you gave me.

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN WEIGHT STATUS, DEMOGRAPHIC VARIABLES AND HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE IN NEW MEXICO ADOLESCENTS

ΒY

UKEME UMOH

MBBCH., UNIVERSITY OF CALABAR MPH., LOUISIANA STATE UNIVERSITY MS.,BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES,UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO

2017

ABSTRACT

This study evaluated the relationship between weight status, demographic variables and HRQOL in New Mexico adolescents. This secondary analysis uses baseline data from 991 adolescents in the 9th and 10th grades enrolled in the ACTION PAC clinical trial. HRQOL was assessed using the validated Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory Version 4.0 (PedsQL 4.0). Body mass index (BMI) percentiles were calculated from anthropometric measurements, and demographic variables (age, sex, race/ethnicity and household income) were obtained via self-report. Obese adolescents (BMI \geq 95th percentile) had lower total (p<0.016), psychosocial (p<0.016), social (p<0.007) and school (p<0.007) functioning HRQOL scores compared to the non-overweight (BMI \leq 85th percentile) adolescents. Males reported higher total (p<0.0001), physical (p<0.0001), and psychosocial (p<0.0001) HRQOL scores compared to females. In multivariate models, the significant associations between weight status and sex and HRQOL were independent of ethnicity and household income. Obese

adolescents had poorer HRQOL compared to non-overweight adolescents irrespective of their sex, ethnicity and household income. Adolescent males had higher HRQOL scores compared to the adolescent females, independent of weight status, ethnicity and household income. In addressing adolescent obesity, management should pay attention to the physical and psychosocial wellbeing of the adolescents and not be confined to the disease process only.

LIST OF TABLES viii INTRODUCTION 1 EPIDEMIOLOGY 2 PREVALENCE OF OBESITY BY SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS......7 HYPERTENSION.....11 PSYCHOSOCIAL PROBLEMS......12 HEALTH RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE (HRQOL).....12 HRQOL, DEMOGRAPHIC VARIABLES AND WEIGHT STATUS...... 14 LITERATURE SEARCH STRATEGY 22 PARTICIPANTS 25

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DISCUSSION	42
HEALTH RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE	42
SEX	43
RACE AND ETHNICITY	43
SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS	44
STRENGTHS	45
LIMITATIONS	45
IMPLICATIONS	46
CONCLUSION	47
FUTURE DIRECTION	47
REFERENCES	48

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	1: Percentage of high school students who were obese in selected U.S	•
states,	Youth Risk Behavior Survey, 2013	4

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Prevalence of overweight and obese adolescents (10-19 years) in some
countries worldwide
Table 2: Prevalence of overweight and obese adolescents in U.S. (12-19 years)by race/ethnicity
Table 3: Prevalence of overweight and obese adolescents in New Mexico by race/ethnicity
Table 4: Studies on HRQOL, Demographic variables and Weight status17
Table 5: Demographic Questionnaire 28
Table 6: Intraclass correlation by HRQOL scale
Table 7: Demographic characteristics of participants
Table 8: Quality of life scores by weight categories 32
Table 9: Demographic characteristics of participants and quality of life34
Table 10: Quality of life scores for males by weight categories 35
Table 11: Quality of life scores for females by weight categories 35
Table 12: Quality of life scores for Hispanic youth by weight categories
Table 13: Quality of life scores for Non-Hispanic youth by weight categories37
Table 14: Quality of life scores for youth in households with income less than\$20,000 by weight categories

Table 15: Quality of life scores for youth in households with income between	
\$20,000 and \$39,999 by weight categories	3
Table 16: Quality of life scores for youth in household with income of \$40,000 or	•
more by weight categories	9
Table 17: Results of multilevel, multivariable linear regression models examining	
the relationship between weight status, sex, household income and Hispanic	
ethnicity and HRQOL40)

INTRODUCTION

Childhood and adolescent obesity, a common chronic disease, is a major public health issue affecting individuals, families and communities. It is associated with various health complications as well as with increasing health care costs. According to the HealthyPeople initiative, obesity is one of the leading national health indicators and a reduction from 16.1% to 14.5% in the proportion of children and adolescents (ages 2 to 19) in the United States who are obese is the target by 2020 [1, 2].

According to the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute (NHLBI; 2010), "overweight and obesity are defined as an excess of body weight for a particular height from fat, muscle, bone, water, or a combination of these factors" [3]. For adults, overweight and obesity are also defined based on body mass index (BMI), which is measured by dividing the body weight in kilograms by height in meters squared (kg/m²). Although BMI can estimate obesity prevalence at a population level, it may not take into consideration the differences in body fat distribution in different individuals and populations [4].

As noted by the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), age- and sexspecific BMI percentiles are used to define overweight and obesity in the pediatric age population because children's body composition changes as they get older and is different between boys and girls. Thus, BMI is expressed relative to other children of the same age and sex using growth charts and is classified as follows: children and adolescents with a BMI at the 85th percentile to less than the 95th percentile for age and sex are considered overweight. Those with a BMI at or greater than the 95th percentile are considered obese [5]. The CDC-2000 growth chart, which is widely used, was developed from five cross-sectional surveys in the United States (U.S.) between 1963 and 1994 to assess the nutritional status of U.S. children [6].

Obesity is influenced by various factors, including personal factors such as a family or personal history of obesity, metabolism, beliefs, attitudes, taste preferences, diet and physical activity behaviors, cultural experiences, socioeconomic status, and by community level factors such as the environment [7]. Environmental factors include the "home, school, [and] community" food environment, while societal factors include "cultural norms, social networks, technological development, economics, and public policy" [8].

EPIDEMIOLOGY

As reported by Raj (2012), "the worldwide prevalence of childhood overweight and obesity increased from 4.2% in 1990 to 6.7% in 2010 and is expected to reach 9.1% or 60 million in 2020" [9]. Based on reported data [6], the estimated prevalence of childhood and adolescent overweight and obesity varies in different countries (Table 1).

Table 1: Prevalence of overweight and obese children and adolescents

(ages 10-19 years) in some countries worldwide

Country	Overweight (%)	Obese (%)	Year reported
Australia	17.9%	5.3%	2007
China	4.6%	0.6%	2008
Germany	18.2%	6.2%	2011
Italy	15.6%	2.3%	2005
Mexico	21.2%	8.9%	2009
New Zealand	24.0%	10.2%	2010
Saudi Arabia	17.9%	7.0%	2010
South Africa	14.4%	5.3%	2010
Sweden	15.8%	4.4%	2004
Taiwan	16.3%	6.2%	2009
USA	15.2%	16.4%	2010

A higher prevalence of overweight is noted in New Zealand, and a higher prevalence of obesity is noted in the United States. In a report by Ng et al. (2014), among children and adolescents in developed countries, the prevalence of overweight and obesity was 23.8% in males and 22.6% in females, while in the developing countries, the prevalence increased from 8.1% to 12.9% among males and from 8.4% to 13.4% among the females [10]. In the United States, according to the 2013 National Youth Risk Behavior Survey (YRBS) self-reported data, 16.0% of adolescents in 9th through 12th grades at public or private schools were overweight and 13.9% were obese [11].

Figure 1: Percentage of high school students who were obese in selected U.S. states, Youth Risk Behavior Survey, 2013



Obesity prevalence varies among states with the highest adolescent obesity prevalence of between 15% and 19% in most of the southeastern states (Figure 1). In New Mexico, adolescent obesity is also prevalent. As of 2013, according to the New Mexico Youth Risk and Resiliency Survey (NMYRRS), which is based on self-report, 15.0% of adolescents in 9th through 12th grades were overweight and 12.6% were obese [12].

PREVALENCE OF OBESITY BY SEX

There is a sex disparity in obesity for children and adolescents. Male and female adolescents have a difference in muscle bulk and adipose tissue distribution, which is influenced by sex steroid hormones. Males have a lean body composition and central fat distribution while females have higher body fat percentage and more fat distribution at the gluteal/femoral parts of the body [13-15]. Barnes (1975) noted that muscle mass was greater in males than females at similar stages of puberty development [16]. In a report by Ogden et al. (2014), 35.1% of U.S. males aged 12-19 were either overweight or obese and 20.3% were obese while 33.8% females were either overweight or obese and 20.7% were obese [17].

PREVALENCE OF OBESITY BY RACE AND ETHNICITY

Significant racial and ethnic disparities exist in the prevalence of obesity among children and adolescents.

Table 2: Prevalence of overweight and obese adolescents in U.S. (12-19 years) by race/ethnicity

	Hispanic	Non-Hispanic	Non-Hispanic	Non-Hispanic
		White	Black	Asian
BMI ≥85 th	38.1%	31.2%	39.8%	24.6%
percentile				
BMI ≥95 th	22.6%	19.6%	22.1%	11.1%

percentile		
poroornio		

Nationally (Table 2), Hispanic adolescents had the highest prevalence of obesity (22.6%) in comparison to non-Hispanic Black (22.1%), non-Hispanic White (19.6%), and non-Hispanic Asian (11.1%) [17]. In New Mexico (Table 3), based on the NMYRRS, American Indian adolescents had a high obesity prevalence (18.0%) in comparison to Asian (7.7%), non-Hispanic Black (10.4%), Hispanic (12.7%) and non-Hispanic White (7.7%) [18].

Table 3: Prevalence of ove	erweight and obese	adolescents in	New Mexico
by race/ethnicity			

	American	Asian/	Non-	Non-	Hispanic
	Indian	Pacific	Hispanic	Hispanic	
		Islander	Black	White	
BMI ≥85 th	18.3%	7.7%	13.2%	10.6%	14.9%
percentile					
BMI ≥95 th	18.0%	7.7%	10.4%	7.7%	12.7%
percentile					

Genetic factors may explain why obesity is more prevalent in some racial/ethnic groups and in some families, as certain gene expression is associated with obesity [19]. Identified obesity-related genes such as FGF2, PTEN, CDKN1A, ESR1, ADRB3 and LEP, code for different proteins, some of which regulate

appetite in different ways [19-21]. Proteins such as leptin [4], ghrelin and melanocortin 4 receptor have been implicated [22]. Some studies have suggested that genetic factors may play a role in some individuals who "gain fat when chronically exposed to certain environmental factors" [4]. These environmental factors as noted by Kumanyika (2008) "include differences in the geographic location, family size and composition, healthcare access and availability" [23]. African American and Hispanic groups have a higher prevalence of obesity and are disproportionately represented in poor communities where unhealthy energy-dense foods are less expensive, access to healthcare is difficult and physical activity can be a struggle due to unsafe neighborhoods or lack of infrastructure. Different racial/ethnic groups have different food-related beliefs, preferences, behaviors, and cultures which define them [23]. These differences could also contribute to the variation in prevalence of obesity in different racial/ethnic groups.

PREVALENCE OF OBESITY BY SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS

EDUCATION

The educational level of parents is associated with childhood and adolescent prevalence of overweight and obesity [5]. Obesity prevalence among children and adolescents is lower in households whose adult head finished high school compared to households whose adult head did not [5]. The level of education of caregivers may determine if they are aware of lifestyle choices such as healthy diets and adequate physical activities for their children. Caregivers with a higher educational level are more likely to follow dietary recommendations and make healthier lifestyle choices [24]. One's level of education is also highly correlated with income.

INCOME

Lower socioeconomic status is associated with higher prevalence of obesity [5]. The high prevalence of child poverty in New Mexico could contribute to the childhood obesity burden [25]. Income largely determines if parents and guardians are able to afford relatively healthy meals, which may be more expensive, for their children. Family income also determines an environment to which a child is exposed. Food deserts are associated with poor neighborhoods where healthy food items such as fresh fruits and vegetables are not readily available, but less expensive calorie-dense foods such as sugar-sweetened beverages and snack foods, which can contribute to childhood obesity, are more readily available [26]. In New Mexico, about 27 out of 33 counties are considered to be food deserts [27]. This could also have a negative impact on the obesity prevalence in the state. In addition, poorer neighborhoods may have no facilities or safe areas for children to have adequate physical activity. Inadequate physical activity for children and adolescents may contribute to increased sedentary behaviors which may be associated with higher BMI prevalence [28].

BURDEN OF OBESITY

Guo and Chumlea (1999), reported that "the probability of childhood obesity persisting into adulthood is estimated to increase from approximately 20% at 4

8

years of age to approximately 80% by adolescence" [29]. Another study found that 87% of obese adolescents become obese adults [5]. This is associated with increased risk for chronic disease and higher health care costs, as well as poor health-related quality of life.

COST

Childhood and adolescent obesity are associated with a high economic burden. Areas of economic impact associated with obesity include direct and indirect medical costs. Direct costs results from treatment of obesity and its complications through the use of healthcare services such as inpatient and outpatient care [30]. Indirect medical cost results from productivity losses, transportation costs, and human capital costs [31]. About \$14.3 billion is spent annually as direct costs of childhood obesity in the United States [32, 33]. In New Mexico, about 17,195 children are enrolled in the children's health insurance program (CHIP) and about \$68 million is spent annually [34, 35]. Childhood obesity, and adolescent obesity in particular, could add to the costs of providing CHIP coverage for the state. Health care costs will continue to increase as more overweight and obese children and adolescents become obese adults [36].

MEDICAL COMPLICATIONS

Obesity affects almost all organ systems, resulting in complications such as diabetes, hypertension, and dyslipidemia, among others [37, 38]. Obesity and its complications could have an impact on the health-related quality of life of affected adolescents. Studies have documented lower health-related quality of

life (HRQOL) in overweight and obese individuals with comorbidities compared to those without and have shown significantly increasing effect on HRQOL in individuals with more comorbidities [39-41].

DIABETES

Diabetes, a major complication of childhood and adolescent obesity, results from a disorder of glucose metabolism thus leading to high blood glucose levels. Overweight and obese children and adolescents are at a higher risk of developing diabetes than normal weight children [42]. Some studies showed that overweight and obese youth with type 2 diabetes mellitus had lower HRQOL compared to healthy youth [43-45]. Impact on the HRQOL in obese children and adolescents with diabetes could be a result of the diabetes treatment, the lifestyle changes required to maintain glycemic control, as well as inadequate management of common co-morbid conditions such as depression [44, 46, 47].

Type 2 diabetes mellitus was previously thought to occur primarily in adults but it is now common in obese adolescents [48]. Incidence rates vary by ethnicity, with the Native Americans having the highest rate of 49.4%, Asian/Pacific Islanders 22.7%, African Americans 19.4%, Hispanics 17%, and non-Hispanic whites 5.6% [49]. Based on a report by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), about "215,000 people younger than 20 years of age in the United States were diagnosed with diabetes in 2010" [50]. According to Edate et al. (2015), "globally, an estimated 65,000 children younger than 16 develop diabetes each year, and the incidence continues to increase at a rate of 3% per year" [51]. Early and intensive management of diabetes is necessary in adolescents to prevent macrovascular and microvascular complications such as retinopathy, neuropathy and nephropathy [52]. Interventions to address obesity and type 2 diabetes would involve making changes in diet and physical activity in schools, homes and in the community [53-57].

HYPERTENSION

The risk of developing hypertension during childhood and as young adults is higher among obese children compared to non-obese children [58, 59]. Factors which could play a role in obesity-related hypertension include "insulin resistance, sodium retention, increased sympathetic nervous system activity, activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, and altered vascular function" [60].

DYSLIPIDEMIA

Dyslipidemia is another complication seen in overweight and obese children and adolescents. Higher levels of total cholesterol, low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), triglycerides and lower concentrations of high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) have been reported in this population [61, 62]. Individuals with obesity and dyslipidemia have been reported to have a lower physical function, health perception and preference-based HRQOL [39].

PSYCHOSOCIAL PROBLEMS

Psychosocial problems such as stigmatization, discrimination, emotional trauma, and depression are also associated with childhood obesity. Obese children and adolescents may feel unattractive and may not be confident in their social and athletic abilities [63]. Studies have shown certain domains of the HRQOL are more affected in overweight and obese children and adolescents than others. Some showed a greater impact on physical functioning while others showed the psychosocial domain being more affected [64, 65]. Lower self-esteem and depressive symptoms, which have been reported among overweight and obese adolescents could affect their HRQOL [66-68].

HEALTH RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE

The World Health Organization (WHO) defined quality of life (QOL) as "an individual's perceptions of one's position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which one lives and in relation to one's goals, expectations, standards, and concerns" [69]. Health-related quality of life (HRQOL) assesses the effect of health or disease on the physical and psychosocial functioning of an individual [70]. Understanding HRQOL can contribute to a better awareness of patients' needs as well as to improved care and treatment [71].

Addressing factors that affect each measure of the HRQOL can help in developing public health intervention strategies [72]. HRQOL can be an outcome measure in weight management programs because if the HRQOL improves during or after weight management interventions, this could serve as a motivation

for continued behavioral changes even after the weight management interventions [73]. An assessment of HRQOL is necessary because healthcare providers may pay greater attention to the psychosocial domains of their patients' lives in addition to their patients' reported outcomes [74]. The physical domain of the HRQOL in children and adolescents looks at the "presence of general ailments and the ability to engage in physical activity while the psychosocial domain of the HRQOL looks at the emotional well-being, social integration and role functioning" [70]. The generic HRQOL scale assesses the different domains of the HRQOL in a healthy population while the disease specific HRQOL measure focuses on the effect of a specific health condition on each domain of the HRQOL [75]. Research has shown impairment in both the disease and generic HRQOL in overweight and obese adolescents [75-78]. Investigators have documented in both the self-report of adolescents and in parents' report, the association of obesity and impaired HRQOL. This association has been found in both clinic-based samples and community populations. A study done by Schwimmer and colleagues examined the HRQOL in a clinical sample of severely obese (defined as BMI at or above 120% of the sex-specific 95th percentile on the CDC BMI-for-age growth chart [79]) children. Using the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory (PedsQL) 4.0 Generic Core Scales, the authors found that "severely obese children had impairment in their physical and psychosocial health which was similar to the HRQOL of children with cancer on chemotherapy" [80-83].

Studies looking at quality of life in overweight and obese children taking part in lifestyle interventions did show that HRQOL improved even without significant weight loss among some participants [84, 85]. Hoffmeister et al. (2011) documented improved HRQOL in some children even without weight loss in a study with 1,916 children aged 8-16 in 48 treatment facilities for overweight and obese children and adolescents [85]. This may have been a result of an intervention, which included behavioral therapy.

To address obesity in adolescents, it is important to emphasize primary and secondary prevention in addition to treatment of the obesity. This could involve encouraging obese adolescents to make permanent lifestyle changes such as altering their approach to physical activity and diet. It is important to take into consideration the social and cultural factors that affect obesity when designing interventions to address obesity [86].

NEED TO EVALUATE HRQOL BY DEMOGRAPHIC VARIABLES AND WEIGHT STATUS

As stated, demographic variables, such as sex, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status, are associated with disparities in obesity prevalence. The evidence is inconclusive regarding how these demographic variables impact HRQOL in overweight and obese adolescents (Table 4). Some studies that assessed sex differences in HRQOL in overweight and obese adolescents have had conflicting results. Gopinath et al. (2013), in a study looking at BMI, weight status (overweight/obese) with HRQOL in 2,353 adolescents (mean age 12.7) and

52.6% females, White 54%, East Asian 20.6%, Southeast Asian 6.8%, Middle Eastern 8.8% and others 9.7%, reported that "adiposity in adolescent boys but not girls was associated with poorer quality of life" [87]. No sex differences were found in some studies that had used similar or identical measures to assess HRQOL [88] [89]. Modi et al. (2008) in a study using a parent proxy obesity specific QOL scale- 'Sizing them up', to assess HRQOL in 220 obese adolescents while controlling for other demographic variables, found no sex differences in the study population. Some studies did show that HRQOL scores were higher in adolescent boys than in adolescent females [90-92]. Fallon et al. (2005) examined the relationship between weight classification and HRQOL in 144 overweight and obese adolescents, mean age 14.3 with 47.2% White and 52.8% Blacks, and reported "an interaction between Black verses White race/ethnicity and weight class for only one HRQOL domain" as well as no sex difference in the HRQOL in this population. This study did not include a Latino population [93]. Our study, based in New Mexico, includes a high proportion of student who identify as Latino and the use of a standardized validated assessment tool (PedsQL 4.0 scale) which was not used in the study by Fallon and colleagues. Some studies showed that overweight and obese African American children noted "higher levels of physical comfort and self-esteem and less social and emotional impairment on HRQOL measures compared to White children" [94, 95]. Arif et al. (2006) examined HRQOL and weight status in different racial or ethnic groups of which 43.2% were Hispanic and 50.0% were white and found "no difference in the HRQOL between the Hispanics and whites but the interactions between weight class and ethnicity was not reported" [96]. Wallander et al. (2009) also examined the association between weight status and HRQOL in 599 fifth grade children aged 10-13 years (African American 40%, Hispanic 34% and White 26%) controlling for other demographic variables found that there was no significant interaction between weight classification and race/ethnicity for HRQOL. Obese children reported significantly lower psychosocial but not physical HRQOL than those classified as non-overweight [97].

Krause et al. (2014) examined the relationship between overweight/obesity and HRQOL and its association with SES, and reported differences in the association between males and females [98]. SES is reported to have an effect on HRQOL variables [99] and lower SES is associated with a higher prevalence of overweight and obesity [5] therefore it is necessary to assess SES as a potential confounder of the relationship between HRQOL and weight status [100, 101].

Lower SES is associated with inadequate resources, which could make engaging in healthy lifestyle choices more difficult as well as access to affordable healthcare services. This could also be a source of stress to caregivers which may in turn impact the HRQOL of affected children and adolescents [102-105].

Table 4: Studies on HRQOL, Demographic variables and Weight status

References	Participants	Demographics	Setting of study	Study design	Data collected	Outcomes assessed	Result	Limitations
Gopinath B. et al. 2013	2353 participants in the cross section study and 1688 in the longitudinal study. Median age 12.7 years	Ethnicity (caucasian 54%, East Asian 20.6%, Southeast Asian 6.8%, Middle eastern 8.8%, other 9.7%) sex (females 52.6%)	Sydney childhood eye study (Sydney, Australia)	Cross sectional and longitudinal study	weight, height,waist circumference, percentage body mass fat, BMI	HRQOL using PedsQL	Adiposity (based on % body fat) in adolescent boys but not girls was associated with poorer QOL	 HRQOL was assessed at 5years after initial presentation. Participants may have underreported their health problem.
Michel G. et al. 2009	21,590 Children and adolescents Aged 8-18 years (mean 12.95)	Sex (females 52.6%, males 47.4%)	12 European countries participating in the KIDSCREEN survey	Cross sectional study	HRQOL using KIDSCREEN survey, age , sex	NHRQOL	Girls' HRQOL declined more than boys' with increasing age.	it's a cross sectional study
Fallon EM., et al. 2005	110 overweight (62 Black, 48 White) and 34 non-overweight (14 Black, 20 White) adolescents Mean age 14.3 years	Sex (females 61.1%) SES (based on Holllingshead index), Ethnicity (White 47.2%, Black 52.8%)	Obesity treatment program- (Maryland, USA).	Cross sectional study	Height, weight, BMI, BMIz scores, QOL assessed using IWQOL, HRQOL, Child health questionnaire (parent report).	QOL	1). Compared with overweight white adolescents, blacks reported less impairment in QOL. 2). OWT whites reported greatest impairment on Social/Interpersonal, Self- Esteem, and Physical Appearance QOL 3). parents of overweight blacks reported the poorest General Health Perceptions scores regarding their children. 4). No sex diferences were noted using IWQOL or HRQOL scale.	Small sample size of non overweight adolescents. 2) sampling bias- OWT adolescents may have weight loss treatment

References	Participants	Demographics	Setting of study	Study design	Data collected	Outcomes assessed	Result	Limitations
Arif AA., Rohrer JE. 2006	5530 children Aged 3-18 years (mean age 10.6)	Sex, ethnicity (Hispanic 43.2% and Non-Hispanic 50.0% White),	Childhood health and diabetes survey from 109 Counties in West Texas	Cross sectional study	Height, weight, BMI, BMIz scores, parent report of hyperglycemic symptoms	HRQOL using KINDL(parent report	Male children exhibited better physical health as compared to the female children 2). No significant association between the Hispanic ethnicity and HRQOL was observed. 3). Those who reported mostly speaking Spanish, exhibited significantly lower overall HRQOL	Cross sectional study, participants with hyperglycemic symptoms/diabetes were included in the study
Wallander JL., et al. 2009	599 fifth grade public school students, aged 10-13years	Sex (females 54%), d ethnicity (White 26%, African American 40%, Hispanics 34%), Educational level (< High school graduate 24%, college/associate degree 35%, professional degree 9%), and marital status of primary caregiver	University of Alabama (Birmingham), University of California (Los Angeles), University of Texas(f Houston).	Cross sectional study	weight, height, BMI, Body satisfaction assessment, General self concept, QOL using PedsQL	(QOL	There was no significant interaction between weight classification and race/ethnicity for QOL.	Small sample size, study participants were only 5th graders
Modi AC, et al. 2008	145 obese adolescents aged 11- 18 years Mean age 15.3 years	Sex (females 68%), - Ethnicity (White 52%, Black 45%, Hispanic 1%, s Other 1%)	Cincinnati Childrens' Hospital medical cente and University of Alabama.	Cross sectional study r	weight, height, BMI, BMI z scores, QOL using PedsQL and IWQOL	QOL	1). Physical, emotional, and social scores of the PedsQL and the physical comfort and body esteem scores of the IWQOL-Kids were significantly higher for black compared to white adolescents with extreme obesity. 2). obese females reported lower HRQOL compared to obese males	1). participants were only obese adolescents seeking weight management intervention. 2). Only 2 ethnic groups(white/black) were analysed.
Wallander JL, Kerbawy S, Toomey S, et al. 2013	4824 fifth grade publi school students aged 10-12 years	c Sex (females 49%), d ethnicity (White 23%, Black 30%, Hispanics 47%), Educational level of primary caregiver (< 9th grade 19%, High school graduate 21%, Bachelor degree 14%, >Bachelor degree 9%)	University of Alabama(Birm ngham), University of California (Los Angeles), University of Texas(Houston).	Cross ii sectional study	weight, height, BMI, Body satisfaction assessment, General self concept, QOL using PedsQL	HRQOL	No significant disparities were found in the association between weight status and HRQOL among the three racial/ethnic groups or aong SES range.	Participants were 5th graders in 3 geographic regions . Study was cross sectional.

References	Participants	Demographics	Setting of study	Study design	Data collected	Outcomes assessed	Result	Limitations
Black WR., et al. 2014.	204 children aged 5- 13.5 years (mean age 10.18 years)	Sex (females 53%), Ethnicity (African American 27%, White 25%, Hispanic 46%, other 2%),	Two Midwestern regional medical centers	Cross sectional study s	Height, weight, BMI z scores, Weight related QOI measures (children self reported - 'Sizing me up' and parent proxy reported- 'Sizing them up')	HRQOL using weight related QOL measures	Males had higher emotional functioning scores. No ethnicity differences noted	9 1). Participants were enrolled in a pediatric obesity treatment program. 2) Measures of SES were not included in the study
Stern M., et al. 2007	100 overweight adolescents aged 11- 18 years Mean age 14.3 years	Sex (females 59%), Ethnicity (African Americar 76%, White 18%, Hispanic 2%, Native American 1%, Asian 1% other 2%), SES (based on insurance information- Medicaid/uninsured 34%)	Urban medical i center in Virginia	Cross sectional study	BMI percentile, self esteem inventory, food habits, perceptions of teasing, PedsQL	Psychosocial functioning assessed using PedsQI, Self esteem inventory and perceptions of teasing scales	No gender and race differences were found in the psychosocial measure g	A cross sectional study based on self report which included only overweight treatment seeking adolescents
Modi AC,Zeller MH 2008	. 220 obese adolescent Mean age 11.6 years	sEthnicity : (White 42%, African American 53%, Other 4%, Native American 1%) Sex (females 68%)	Cincinnati Childrens' Hospital	Cross sectional study	Height, weight, BMI, BMIz scores	HRQOL using PedsQL, Sizing Them Up (a parent proxy obesity specific QOL scale) and IWQOL (impac of weight on QOL- a weight specific HRQOI measure).	No gender differences were found gusing Sizing Them Up scale but parents of African American youth reported better total score, emotional and c physical functioning compared to d parents of White youth.	Population was treatment s seeking adolescents, ethnicity was assessed as 2 groups only (white and African American)
Schwimmer JB. et al. 2003	106 obese children and adolescents, aged 5- 18years (mean age 12.1years), 100 cancer patients 401 healthy participant	I Sex (females 46%), Ethnicity (White 26.4%, Hispanic 59.4%, Black 57.5%, Asian 0.9%, Other 5.7%), SES (based on sHollingshead index)	Childrens' Hospital and Health center ir San Diego, California.	Cross sectional a study	Height, weight, BMI,BMIz scores, History of comorbic symptoms	HRQOL using I child self report and parent proxy report(PedsQI	1) Severely obese children and adolescents had lower HRQOL compared to healthy group 2 Severely obese group had HRQOL similar to children/adolescents with cancer. 3) In the obese group, no significant differences in QOL scores by sex and ethnicity	Population was treatment seeking children and) adolescents, cross sectional study

References	Participants	Demographics	Setting of study	Study design	Data collected	Outcomes assessed	Result	Limitations
Kunkel N. et al. 2009	467 adolescents, aged 15-18years (mean age 15.9yrs)	Sex (males 37%), self- refered skin color (White 71.5%, Indian/black/mixed 28.5%) Family head schooling (illiterate 2.8%, 4yrs of school 10%, 8yrs of school 28.3%, >9yrs of school 28.3%, >9yrs of school 56.6%) , Socioeconomic status(based on mean per capita income- \$424.15).	Students in public schools in Florianopolis, Southern Brazil	Cross n sectional study	Height, weight, BMI, HRQOL	HRQOL using PedsQL	1) Adolescents with excess weight had lower HRQOL. 2) Female adolescents had lower quality of life scores. 3) Based on skin color, parents reported lower HRQOL in black amd mixed colored children.	Height of participants were based on self report. 2) Socioeconomic conditions were not controlled for.
Keating CL. et al. 2011	2890 students-mean age 14.6yrs	Sex (males 56.2%), SES based on Socio-economic index for areas (SEIFA)- <25th SES quartile 24.7%, 25th-<50th 16%, 50th-75th 38.3%, >75th 19.8%)	Pacific Obesity prevention in communities project, Australia	Cross sectional study	Height, weight, BMI, HRQOL	HRQOL using PedsQL	1) overweight and obese females reported lower HRQOL scores compared to the overweight and obese boys .	some groups were over represented in the study- adolescents who lived in higher SES areas, more boys, adolescents from regional areas and centers
Bonsergent E. et al. 2012	5226 adolescents aged 14-18yrs (mean age 15.7)	Sex (females 55%), parental occupation (Employed 48%, Intermediate jobs 20.2%, unemployed 9.4%, Executives 14.3%), family income (low 6.4%, moderate 34.2%, high 59.3%)	PRALIMAP trial in 24 high schools in France	Cross sectional study	Height, weight,HRQOL,BMI,	HRQOL using Duke Health profile for adolescents	 All HRQOL scores were higher for boys than girls. 2) The less favourable the socioeconomic parameters(social and professional class, parental occupation, perception of family income), the lower the HRQOL scores. The higher the BMI, the lower the mental HRQoL score in girls, but not in boys 	Cross sectional study

Understanding the relationship between HRQOL and demographic variables could contribute to the identification of more focused interventions to improve HRQOL in overweight and obese adolescents. This study evaluated the association of demographic variables with the HRQOL in non-overweight, overweight and obese adolescents in New Mexico high schools through the analysis of baseline data from the ACTION PAC (Adolescents Committed to Improvement of Nutritional and Physical Activity) project. Due to inconclusive evidence, we examined the relationship between demographic variables, weight status and HRQOL in adolescents participating in ACTION PAC. To accomplish this, the following aims were proposed:

Aim 1: To examine cross-sectional differences in HRQOL in New Mexico adolescents participating in ACTION PAC by weight status. We hypothesize that self-reported HRQOL will be lower in overweight and obese adolescents compared to non-overweight adolescents.

Aim 2: To determine the cross-sectional relationship between demographic variables, weight status and HRQOL in New Mexico adolescents. We hypothesize that demographic variables will affect the relationship between weight categories and self-reported physical and psychosocial functioning among adolescents.

LITERATURE SEARCH STRATEGY

For the literature search, I queried the databases PubMed, Web of Knowledge and Academic Search Complete. PubMed is a resource for citations and abstracts of biomedical literature from MEDLINE, life science journals and online books. Web of Knowledge is a resource for information in the sciences, social sciences, arts and humanities; while Academic Search Complete is a comprehensive scholarly, multi-disciplinary full-text database designed specifically for academic institutions.

The first search was with the PubMed database, which I accessed through the University of New Mexico HSLIC homepage (http://hsc.unm.edu/library). I selected the "PubMed" tab in the quick search section. Next, I selected the link to the MeSH database and entered "Quality of life" as a MeSH term. I then clicked on "add term to search builder". Next, I typed "Obesity" in the MeSH term field and then clicked on "Obesity". I then clicked on "add term to search builder". I typed "Demographic factors" in MeSH term field and then clicked on "add term to search builder". I typed "Demographic factors" in MeSH term field and then clicked on "add term to search builder". I typed "Demographic factors" in MeSH term field and then clicked on "add term to search builder". Next, I clicked on "Search PubMed." Limiting my search to last 10 years, humans, English, and ages birth to 18 years, the search returned 170 results.

The next search was also with the PubMed database accessed through the University of New Mexico HSLIC homepage (<u>http://hsc.unm.edu/library</u>). I selected the "PubMed" tab in the quick search section. Next, I selected the link to the MeSH database and entered "Quality of life" as a MeSH term. I then clicked

on "Add term to search builder". Next, I typed "Obesity" in the MeSH term field and then clicked on Pediatric Obesity which I also added to the search builder. Then I clicked on "Search PubMed" and in limiting my search to humans, the search returned 52 results.

My third search was through the Web of Science database which I accessed through the University of New Mexico HSLIC homepage (http://hsc.unm.edu/library). I clicked on the database tab and selected "W", then I chose the Web of Knowledge link. Next I entered "Health-related quality of life" in the Topic search field. In the second search field, I entered "Weight status in adolescents" and in a third search field, I entered "Demographic variables". I limited my search to "topic, all years and English". My search returned 14 results.

The last search involved the Academic Search Complete Database accessed through the University of New Mexico HSLIC homepage

(http://hsc.unm.edu/library). I selected the database tab, clicked on "A" and then chose the Academic Search Complete link. Next I entered "The relationship between demographic factors and health-related quality of life in overweight and obese adolescents" in search bar. I limited my search to "find all my search terms, full text, scholarly (peer reviewed journals), PDF full text, English and publication years from 2000-2016" and the search returned 1 result.

METHODOLOGY

STUDY DESIGN AND SETTING

A cross-sectional secondary analysis was completed utilizing baseline data from the ACTION PAC project. The ACTION PAC project, a cluster randomized controlled trial, is a novel National Institutes of Health (NIH) funded research study to investigate the efficacy of motivational interviewing approaches for overweight and obesity prevention and treatment in eight New Mexico high schools (four from Albuquerque-area schools in Bernalillo County and four from Dona Ana and Otero Counties) that have school-based health centers (SBHCs). SBHCs provide healthcare services to insured and uninsured students at school thus making healthcare affordable and accessible to this population since they spend most of their time in school. Essential health care services are also available to the adolescents at this stage of their development and decision making through the SBHCs [106, 107].

A total of 991 participants in the 9th and 10th grades were enrolled and will be followed for two years. Schools were randomized to either the intervention or the comparison group. To limit school level differences, high schools that were included in the study shared the following characteristics: 1) schools with functioning SBHCs, 2) schools with at least 700 enrolled students, 3) schools with at least 40% Hispanic youth, 4) schools with at least one outdoor field, one gymnasium and physical activity opportunities and 5) schools with at least one cafeteria, vending machines and foods brought into school from outside vendors. Written assent from the students as well as written consent (available in Spanish and English) from the parents or guardians were obtained prior to the students' participation in ACTION PAC. Institutional Review Board approval was obtained from the University of New Mexico Human Research Protection office (HRRC #12-614). All participating schools' districts also reviewed and approved the study protocol.

PARTICIPANTS

Nine hundred and ninety one adolescents in the 9th or 10th grade were recruited through school registration events, through the SBHCs and through class presentations. The participants' caregivers completed a health history questionnaire that included questions about personal and family history of medical conditions and current medications. Health histories were reviewed by phone with all parents or guardians of participating students by trained research staff. Exclusion criteria for the ACTION PAC study included: 1) a diagnosis of type 1 or 2 diabetes; 2) blood pressure in the range of stage 2 hypertension; 3) current use of oral or injectable corticosteroids, antipsychotics and/or medications for the treatment of diabetes, hypertension and/or hyperlipidemia; 4) inability to perform moderate to vigorous physical activity or not being ambulatory; 5) a score of 20 or more on the EAT-26 eating disorder risk screening questionnaire; 6) developmental disorders that affect weight or the ability to understand the study procedures or counseling and 7) pregnancy. Participants were compensated with a \$20 gift card at each data collection period.

25

MEASUREMENTS

ANTHROPOMETRICS

Weight and height were measured by trained and standardized research assistants. Weight was measured twice on a digital scale (SECA#770, Chino, CA, USA) with the participant not wearing shoes and in light clothing. If the two readings differed by >0.5 kilogram, a third reading was taken and the mean value for the two closest readings was used for analysis. Height of participants without shoes was measured twice with a portable stadiometer (SECA #213, Chino, CA, USA). If the two readings differed by >0.1 centimeter, a third reading was taken and the mean value for the two closest readings was used for analysis. Both weight and height were measured according to procedures established by Lohman and colleagues and the National Health and Nutrition examination Survey (NHANES) Anthropometric Procedures Manuel [108]. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated in kg/m² per standard technique, then age-adjusted BMI percentiles and Z-scores were generated from the calculated BMI using the CDC age- and sex-specific LMS BMI-for-age charts for ages 2-20 years [109]. Students with BMI percentile of ≤85% for age and sex were considered to be non-overweight, with BMI 85% to 94.9% to be overweight and BMI 95%-99.9% to be obese.

HEALTH RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE

The Health Related Quality Of Life (HRQOL) of participants was assessed using the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory Version 4.0 (PedsQL 4.0). This instrument,
originally developed by Dr. Varni and colleagues, used a pediatric cancer database, but it has been developed further to include "additional constructs" [and] items with a more sensitive scaling range" [110]. The PedsQL 4.0 assesses adolescent HRQOL with self-report. There are 23 items with a 5-point Likert scale for the extent to which each item has been a problem during the past month (0=never a problem, 1=almost never a problem, 2=sometimes a problem, 3=often a problem and 4= almost always a problem). These items are then reverse scored on a scale of 0 to 100 (0=100, 1=75, 2=50, 3= 25 and 4= 0). A mean score is computed for psychosocial health (comprising emotional, social and school functioning scores) and physical health. The responses to all questions are averaged to provide a total HRQOL score [111]. A higher score reflects a better HRQOL. In reliability and validity tests, the PedsQL 4.0 has consistently had high reliability scores (Cronbach's alpha = 0.71-0.89) and has been able to distinguish between healthy children and those with chronic diseases [112].

DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS

The demographic characteristics of participants and their parents/guardians were obtained from a demographic questionnaire (see Table 5) completed by each participant's parent or caregiver. Demographic information included the age, sex, ethnicity and socioeconomic status based on caregiver's household income.

Table 5: Demographic Questionnaire

Pt ID Date	
ls your teen	O Male O Female
Information About You (parent/guardian filling the survey)	
What is your ethnicity/Race? Check all that apply	Hispanic or Latino American Indian or Alaska Native
	White or Anglo Asian
	Black or African American O Other (specify)
	Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander
What is your family's yearly household income?	
	■ \$30,000-\$39,999 ■ \$40,000-\$49,999 ■ \$50,000- \$74,999

DATA ANALYSIS

Based on previous studies [113], we predicted measures of HRQOL to have a standard deviation of 15. For a desired power of 80% and a type 1 error rate of 0.05, we estimated a sample size of 931 to be able to detect differences in HRQOL means of 2.1 points between groups.

Descriptive statistics were calculated to describe the weight status, age, sex, ethnicity, and HRQOL scores of the participants. We conducted analysis of variance and chi-square tests to examine if demographic variables varied by weight status and if HRQOL varied by weight status.

Multilevel, multivariable linear regression models were used to analyze associations between weight status, demographic variables and the HRQOL scores. Due to the cluster design of the ACTION PAC project, all models were adjusted for clustering of schools. Level 1 included participants within the schools while level 2 included the participating schools in the different participating regions in New Mexico. This allowed for comparison of the adolescents between schools and within schools. Intraclass correlation coefficients were estimated to show variability within schools. Using multilevel modelling was also helpful because datasets did not have to be equally balanced for each school. Independent variables were the demographic variables (sex, ethnicity and socioeconomic status as defined by household income) and weight status based on BMI percentile. The dependent variables were the HRQOL scores as continuous measures. P-values < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. STATA version 14.0 (StataCorp., College Station, TX, USA) and SAS version 9.4 (SAS institute, Cary, NC, USA) were used for all analyses.

29

RESULTS

Intraclass correlation by HRQOL scale scores was not significantly different from zero thus students within schools were not very alike. Table 6 shows that the intraclass correlations by HRQOL are small (0-0.0186). Similarities between individuals within a cluster are considered substantial when the intraclass correlation is > 0.1. For example, students within a school in a certain neighborhood might be expected to have similar SES compared with students in a school in a different neighborhood. Clustering is distinct when objects in a group are similar and there are large differences between groups [114].

	Intraclass correlation (95% CL)
Total Score	0.0068 (0.0008 – 0.0578)
Physical Health Score	0
Psychosocial Health Score	0.0090 (0.0030 – 0.0014)
Emotional Functioning	0
Social Functioning	0.0033 (0.0001 – 0.0990)
School Functioning	0.0186 (0.0046 – 0.0724)

Table 6: Intraclass correlation by HRQOL scale

Table 7 presents the demographic characteristics of study participants by weight status. A total of 991 participants enrolled in the study, with a mean BMI percentile of 79.4. Distribution of BMI across weight groups were as follows: 61.6% non-overweight (mean BMI percentile = 51.1), 19.8% overweight (mean BMI percentile = 90.6) and 18.7% obese (mean BMI percentile = 97.7). Age

range was from 13.4 years to 18.5 years with an average of 15.3 years. A

majority of participants were females (54.8%) and Hispanic (82.9%).

Socioeconomic status was assessed based on yearly household income; 41.6%

of participants were from households with yearly income of less than \$20,000.

Characteristics	Total**	Non-	Overweight	Obese	p-value*
	(N=991)	Overweight (N=610)	(N=196)	(N=185)	
Age in years, mean (SD)	15.3 (0.7)	15.3 (0.7)	15.4 (0.7)	15.3 (0.6)	0.72
BMI percentile, mean (SD)	79.4 (11.8)	51.1 (24.1)	90.6 (2.9)	97.7 (1.3)	
Sex, N (%)					0.02
Female	543 (54.8%)	334 (54.8%)	121 (61.7%)	88 (47.6%)	
Male	448 (45.2%)	276 (45.2%)	75 (38.3%)	97 (52.4%)	
Race/Ethnicity, N (%)					0.78
Hispanic	820 (82.9%)	501 (82.3%)	164 (83.7%)	155 (84.2%)	
Non-Hispanic	169 (17.1%)	108 (17.7%)	32 (16.3%)	29 (15.8%)	
Household Income/yr					0.04
Less than \$20,000	398 (41.6%)	238 (40.5%)	71 (37.6%)	89 (49.4%)	
\$20,000 to \$39,999	289 (30.2%)	175 (29.8%)	58 (30.7%)	56 (31.1%)	
\$40,000 or more	269 (28.1%)	174 (29.6%)	60 (31.7%)	35 (19.4%)	

*Chi-square for categorical, ANOVA for continuous

**Total counts may not sum to overall N due to missing data

A summary of the HRQOL scores by weight categories is represented in Table 8. Higher scores in all domains of the HRQOL measures were found among the non-overweight and overweight study participants compared to the obese group, except in school functioning where the obese participants had a slightly higher HRQOL score compared to the overweight group. The observed differences between groups were significant (p<0.05) in all domains except physical health score (p= 0.11) and emotional functioning score (p= 0.22).

	Non – Overweight (N=610)	Overweight (N=196)	Obese (N=185)	p- value*
Total Score, mean (SD)	80.2 (11.6)	78.8 (11.1)	77.5 (12.9)	0.016
Physical Health	85.3 (12.1)	84.8 (12.3)	83.1 (12.8)	0.11
Psychosocial Health	77.5 (13.2)	75.6 (12.6)	74.5 (14.5)	0.016
Emotional Functioning	75.2 (18.9)	74.6 (18.6)	72.4 (20.2)	0.22
Social Functioning	86.7 (13.8)	85.9 (13.1)	83.0 (16.6)	0.007
School Functioning	70.6 (16.7)	66.5 (16.7)	68.2 (17.2)	0.007

 Table 8:
 Quality of life scores by weight categories

*ANOVA

Examination of average HRQOL scores by various demographic variables (Table 9), shows that males have significantly higher average HRQOL scores compared to the females in all domains, except in school functioning were the difference was not statistically significant (p= 0.45).

The Hispanic population had higher average HRQOL scores in all domains except in the physical health score compared to the non-Hispanic population. This difference was statistically significant only for the psychosocial and social functioning scores (p< 0.05).

There were variable, non-significant differences in average HRQOL scores across yearly household income categories. A household income of \geq \$40,000 showed higher HRQOL in all domains except physical score and social functioning scores. Household income \$20,000 - \$39,999 had higher score in physical health, while income > \$20,000 had the highest social functioning score.

There were the same trends in the relationship between weight status and HRQOL for both males and females, although the observed differences between groups were only significant for females (Tables 10 and 11). Obese males had lower average HRQOL scores, though not statistically significant, compared to the overweight and non-overweight males in all domains, except in school functioning. Obese males had a higher HRQOL score compared to the overweight males in school functioning HRQOL scores. A similar trend was seen among the females with higher HRQOL scores recorded among the non-overweight females compared to the overweight and obese in all domains. These were significant in all domains except physical health and emotional functioning scores. Obese females had a higher HRQOL score in school functioning compared to the overweight group.

Characteristics	5	Sex	Ethr	nicity	Hou	Household income/year		
	Male	Female	Hispanic	Non-	<\$20,000	\$20,000 -	>\$40,000	
				Hispanic		\$39,999		
Total score	81.9 (11.2)	77.4 (11.9)	79.7 (11.9)	78.0 (11.1)	79.3 (12.5)	79.3 (11.4)	79.6 (11.2)	
(mean, SD)								
p value	<0.0	001	0.0	90		0.93		
Physical score	88.1 (10.8)	82.0 (12.7)	84.7 (12.5)	84.8 (11.4)	84.2 (13.4)	85.3 (11.6)	84.9 (11.3)	
(mean, SD)								
p value	<0.0	001	0.	94		0.52		
Psychosocial	78.6 (13.1)	74.9 (13.5)	77.0 (13.5)	74.3 (13.0)	76.7 (14.0)	76.1 (13.0)	76.9 (13.0)	
score								
(mean, SD)								
p value	<0.0	001	0.0)2		0.77		
Emotional	78.9 (17.7)	70.9 (19.5)	75.0 (19.2)	72.6 (18.7)	74.3 (20.1)	74.4 (18.5)	75.1 (18.5)	
score								
(mean, SD)								
p value	<0.0	001	0.1	4		0.88		
Social score	87.1 (13.7)	84.9 (14.7)	86.5 (14.0)	82.7 (15.4)	86.4 (14.8)	85.4 (14.1)	85.8 (14.0)	
(mean, SD)								
p value	0	.01	0.0	02		0.65		
School score	69.8 (17.0)	69.0 (16.7)	69.7 (16.9)	68.0 (16.6)	69.6 (17.8)	68.7 (16.0)	69.7 (16.4)	
(mean, SD)								
p value	0	.45	0.2	24		0.73		

Table 9: Demographic characteristics of participants and quality of life

	Non – Overweight (N=275)	Overweight (N=75)	Obese (N=97)	p value
Total Score, mean (SD)	82.6 (11.4)	81.4 (9.4)	80.2 (11.8)	0.17
Physical Health	88.4 (10.7)	88.9 (10.0)	86.6 (11.5)	0.28
Psychosocial Health	79.5 (13.3)	77.4 (11.0)	76.8 (13.6)	0.15
Emotional Functioning	80.1 (17.3)	77.3 (19.5)	76.8 (17.1)	0.20
Social Functioning	87.7 (13.9)	87.8 (11.4)	84.8 (14.8)	0.18
School Functioning	70.9 (17.4)	67.1 (14.6)	68.9 (17.4)	0.20

Table 10: Quality of life scores for males by weight categories

Table 11: Quality of life scores for females by weight categories

	Non – Overweight (N=334)	Overweight (N=121)	Obese (N=88)	p value
Total Score, mean (SD)	78.2 (11.3)	77.2 (11.8)	74.5 (13.5)	0.03
Physical Health	82.6 (12.5)	82.2 (12.9)	79.2 (13.1)	0.08
Psychosocial Health	75.8 (12.9)	74.5 (13.4)	71.9 (15.1)	0.05
Emotional Functioning	71.1 (19.2)	73.0 (18.0)	67.5 (22.2)	0.13
Social Functioning	85.9 (13.7)	84.8 (14.0)	80.9 (18.2)	0.02
School Functioning	70.4 (16.1)	66.2 (17.9)	67.4 (17.1)	0.03

Hispanic adolescents who were obese had lower average HRQOL scores compared to the non-overweight and overweight group, except in school functioning where the obese group had a higher score compared to the overweight group (Table 12). This was statistically significant in the total scores, psychosocial health scores, social and school functioning scores (p value < 0.05).

	Non – Overweight (N=500)	Overweight (N=164)	Obese (N=155)	p value
Total Score, mean (SD)	80.5 (11.5)	79.2 (11.4)	77.7 (13.5)	0.03
Physical Health	85.3 (12.1)	84.9 (12.7)	83.0 (13.3)	0.13
Psychosocial Health	77.9 (13.1)	76.1 (12.8)	74.9 (15.0)	0.03
Emotional Functioning	75.5 (18.9)	74.9 (18.6)	73.1 (20.8)	0.39
Social Functioning	87.4 (13.4)	86.5 (12.9)	83.6 (16.4)	0.01
School Functioning	71.0 (16.5)	67.1 (17.2)	68.1 (17.8)	0.02

Table 12: Quality of life scores for Hispanic youth by weight categories

Among the non-Hispanic adolescents (Table 13), a similar trend was noted; nonoverweight adolescents had higher HRQOL scores compared to the overweight and obese group in all HRQOL domains. The obese group had a higher school functioning score compared to the overweight group. These were not significantly different among the BMI groups.

	Non – Overweight (N=108)	Overweight (N=32)	Obese (N=29)	p value
Total Score, mean (SD)	78.8 (12.0)	76.8 (9.3)	76.4 (9.6)	0.48
Physical Health	85.2 (12.2)	84.2 (9.9)	84.1 (9.7)	0.84
Psychosocial Health	75.3 (13.8)	72.8 (11.3)	72.3 (11.8)	0.41
Emotional Functioning	73.3 (19.1)	73.1 (19.4)	69.1 (16.7)	0.56
Social Functioning	83.5 (15.2)	82.9 (13.6)	79.6 (17.8)	0.48
School Functioning	69.1 (17.8)	63.8 (13.3)	68.4 (14.5)	0.28

Table 13: Quality of life scores for Non-Hispanic youth by weight

categories

The observed relationships between HRQOL and weight status were similar to the overall observed patterns in the lowest income group, but less clear in higher income groups. Non-overweight adolescents in households with yearly income of less than \$20,000 had higher average HRQOL scores in all domains compared to the overweight and obese adolescents (Table 14). This was significant in all domains except in physical health and school functioning. Adolescents in households with yearly income of \$20,000 to \$39,999 showed higher HRQOL scores among the non-overweight in emotional and school functioning scores compared to the other groups. Higher scores were noted among the obese group in total score, physical health and psychosocial health scores. The overweight group had higher social functioning scores compared to the other groups (Table 15). These differences were not statistically significant except in school functioning scores. Higher HRQOL scores were seen among overweight adolescents in households with yearly income of greater than \$40,000 in all domains of the HRQOL measures except in school functioning, though none were statistically significant. Non-overweight adolescents recorded a higher HRQOL score in school functioning (Table 16).

Table 14: Quality of life scores for youth in households with income less	5
than \$20,000 by weight categories	

	Non – Overweight (N=238)	Overweight (N=71)	Obese (N=89)	p value
Total Score, mean (SD)	80.8 (12.2)	78.6 (11.9)	76.0 (13.2)	0.01
Physical Health	85.3 (13.1)	84.0 (13.5)	81.6 (13.8)	0.09
Psychosocial Health	78.5 (13.5)	75.6 (13.2)	73.0 (15.0)	0.01
Emotional Functioning	76.0 (19.7)	74.9 (18.0)	69.4 (22.3)	0.03
Social Functioning	88.2 (13.4)	85.8 (14.0)	82.0 (17.9)	0.00
School Functioning	71.2 (17.8)	67.0 (17.9)	67.6 (17.4)	0.11

Table 15: Quality of life scores for youth in households with income

between \$20,000 and \$39,999 by weight categories

	Non – Overweight (N=174)	Overweight (N=58)	Obese (N=56)	p value
Total Score, mean (SD)	79.6 (11.5)	78.0 (10.7)	79.8 (11.8)	0.61
Physical Health	76.6 (13.2)	85.3 (11.2)	85.4 (10.9)	0.99
Psychosocial Health	74.5 (18.6)	74.1 (12.1)	76.8 (13.4)	0.42

Emotional Functioning	85.4 (14.8)	73.3 (18.2)	75.4 (19.1)	0.83
Social Functioning	69.9 (15.8)	85.7 (12.5)	84.8 (13.8)	0.93
School Functioning	79.6 (11.5)	63.4 (15.5)	70.3 (16.1)	0.02

Table 16: Quality of life scores for youth in household with income of

\$40,000 or more by weight categories

	Non – Overweight (N=174)	Overweight (N=60)	Obese (N=35)	p value
Total Score, mean (SD)	79.7 (11.0)	80.5 (10.0)	78.0 (13.9)	0.58
Physical Health	85.0 (11.0)	85.5 (11.3)	83.2 (12.9)	0.61
Psychosocial Health	76.9 (13.0)	77.8 (11.7)	75.1 (15.3)	0.64
Emotional Functioning	74.5 (18.5)	76.7 (19.8)	75.1 (16.3)	0.73
Social Functioning	86.0 (13.5)	86.8 (12.8)	83.1 (18.2)	0.45
School Functioning	70.2 (16.3)	69.8 (15.1)	67.3 (18.7)	0.64

Analysis showed there was no statistically significant interaction between BMI categories with demographic variables; therefore no interaction terms were included in the models. The results of the multilevel, multivariable linear regression models are included in Table 17.

Table 17: Results of multilevel, multivariable linear regression models examining the relationship between weight

status, sex, household income and Hispanic ethnicity and HRQOL

	Physical	Emotional	Social	School	Psychosocial	Total
Overall model p-value	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	0.14	<0.001	<0.001
Intercept	82.36	68.74	83.73 (1.57)***	69.25 (2.47)	73. 96 (1.61)***	76.87 (1.42)***
	(1.39)***	(2.05)***				
Weightstatus						
BMI %tile <85th	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref
BMI %time 85 th -94.9	0.00 (0.99)	0.04 (1.57)	-0.60 (1.19)	-3.69 (1.39)	-1.42 (1.10)	-0.90 (0.96)
BMI %tile <=95th	-2.54 (1.02)*	-3.36 (1.60)*	-3.97 (1.22)**	-2.02 (1.42)	-3.13 (1.13)**	-2.91 (0.98)**
Sex						
Female	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref
Male	6.23 (0.77)***	8.39 (1.22)***	2.57 (0.93)**	0.68 (1.08)	3.89 (0.86)***	4.68 (0.75)***
Income						
<\$20,000	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref
\$20,000 to \$39,999	0.74 (0.92)	-0.22 (1.45)	-1.12 (1.10)	-1.07 (1.29)	-0.80 (1.02)	-0.29 (0.89)
\$40,000 and above	0.07 (0.97)	0.84 (1.52)	-0.44 (1.16)	-0.30 (1.36)	0.44 (1.08)	0.01 (0.94)
Hispanic						
No	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref
Yes	-0.25 (1.15)	2.79 (1.81)	2.73 (1.37)*	1.48 (1.61)	2.25 (1.28)	1.41 (1.11)

ref = reference group p-value *<0.05, **<0.01, ***<0.001 In multilevel, multivariable linear regression models including weight status, sex, household income and Hispanic ethnicity (Table 17), BMI ≥95th percentile was significantly associated with poorer reported physical, emotional, social and overall psychosocial functioning, compared to BMI <85th percentile, and male sex was significantly associated with better reported physical, emotional, social and overall psychosocial functioning, compared to female sex. Income was not significantly associated with any of the HRQOL outcomes in the multivariable models while Hispanic ethnicity was positively associated with social and overall psychosocial functioning.

DISCUSSION

In this cross-sectional study, obese adolescents were found to have a lower HRQOL compared to non-overweight adolescents irrespective of their sex, ethnicity and socioeconomic status. In addition, we found that adolescent males have a higher HRQOL compared to adolescent females irrespective of their weight status, household income and ethnicity.

HRQOL

There was a statistically significant impairment in the total, psychosocial health, social, physical and school functioning scores among the obese adolescents compared to the non-overweight group. Low physical HRQOL scores in obese adolescent may be due to lack of energy needed to engage in active physical activities [70]. In the validated PedsQL 4.0 scoring scale for assessing HRQOL, questions assessing school functioning include; 'I miss school because of not feeling well' and 'I miss school to go to the doctor or hospital'. Obese adolescents may be at a higher risk of having more obesity related complications that may require attention thus likely leading to more school days absenteeism. A study on overweight/obesity and school attendance found that obese children had more missed days of school compared to normal weight children [115]. In each of the weight categories, social functioning had the highest HRQOL score compared to the other domains. Social networking and peer acceptance plays a significant role in the social behavior and development of adolescents. This factor may influence the social functioning HRQOL scores of adolescents.

In our study, males had significantly higher HRQOL than females in all domains except school, independent of weight status, household income and ethnicity. Studies examining the relationship between sex, weight status and HRQOL have shown that females with excess weight have a lower HRQOL [116-118]. Our study also showed a similar effect of obese females having a significantly lower HRQOL score compared to non-overweight and overweight females in our population. In contrast to the study by Gopinath et al. (2013), we found that adiposity in adolescent females and not males was significantly associated with lower HRQOL, although obese males had a lower HRQOL compared to nonoverweight and overweight males in various domains in our study, and the lack of significance could be a power issue. Body image issues with associated lower self-esteem may be more common among adolescent females. Based on a youth risk behavior survey report, "female students were more than twice as likely as male students to consider themselves to be "too fat" [119]. These factors could impact HRQOL scores among females which may be worse among obese adolescent females. Bisegger et al. (2005) notes that a difference in HRQOL between females and males could possibly be due to hormonal effects during puberty as well as on societal demands and influences [120].

RACE AND ETHNICITY

Among the ethnic groups (Hispanic and Non-Hispanic) analyzed, similar trend of lower HRQOL scores were seen among the obese group verses the overweight and non-overweight groups. There was a statistically significant positive effect noted in psychosocial health and social functioning for the Hispanic compared to non-Hispanic participants. Factors such as family support and high ethnic density may have played a role in this finding.

SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS

Although there were some variations in HRQOL scores noted among \$20,000 -\$39,999 and >\$40,000 socioeconomic status groups as assessed based on yearly household income, these were not statistically significant. This study showed statistically significant differences in the psychosocial, emotional and social domains of the HRQOL measures in the group with household income <\$20,000 yearly which represents families living near the poverty line (<\$24,300/year for a family of four). As noted by Kinge et al. (2010), lower HRQOL scores have been reported among overweight/obese people in lower SES group compared to non-overweight in same SES group as well as those in higher SES group [121].

Assessing the relationship between weight status and HRQOL as well as the association of various demographic variables in the adolescent population is very important. Apart from the physical and psychological changes which are occurring in this population, lifestyle decisions and habits made during this period of development tend to be very influential as an adolescent matures into adulthood. Bisegger et al. (2005) notes that, as adolescents are faced with various challenges, they tend to develop their own values and norms [120].

STRENGTHS

This study, which is the first of its kind to be carried out in New Mexico, contributes to the understanding of how demographic variables impact the relationship between weight status and HRQOL. The study had a large sample size, and the questionnaire response rate of participants in the study was high.

LIMITATIONS

The study is a cross-sectional design study in which we cannot directly assess temporal or causal relationships between variables. Participants in the study were recruited through self-selection. This may be a form of bias since relatively healthier or more motivated individuals may be more interested in participating in the study. Another selection bias may have been as a result of one of the enrollment criteria of choosing which schools could participate in the study. One criteria was that the participating schools had to have at least 40% Hispanic students enrolled in the school. This may limit the variability in the ethnic groups which is one of the demographic variables analyzed in this study. This factor may also impact the generalizability of this study. The use of only public schools with a SBHC may impact the generalizability of this study. Students attending schools with a SBHC are at a greater advantage of having healthcare services readily available and accessible, but are more likely to be low income, as services are provided in areas where they are needed most. Informational bias such as recall bias may be a limitation in this study. Recall bias is a result of remembering inaccurately desired information in a study. Although the PedsQL 4.0 scoring

45

scale which assesses HRQOL is a validated tool, there may be recall bias as participants were required to self-report how much various factors were a problem for them within a one month period. Recall bias may be minimal if participants were required to keep a daily or weekly log. Reporting on household income which was an assessment of socioeconomic status – a variable analyzed in the study, may have been a source of informational bias. Household income reported may not be entirely accurate as most individuals may not be very comfortable giving out information about their yearly household income.

IMPLICATIONS

This study, which showed a lower HRQOL in obese adolescents compared to the non-overweight adolescents, may have some clinical implications. In addressing adolescent obesity, management should not be confined to the disease process only but attention should be paid to the physical and psychosocial wellbeing of the adolescents. Interventions to improve an adolescent's weight status without necessarily attaining a normal weight could improve the HRQOL status of the adolescent which could be very beneficial. According to Fontaine et al. (2001), having discussions on the relationship between obesity and HRQOL with the caregivers and patients could help plan specific interventions for the patient [122]. This study may also be informative in guiding the development of prevention strategies to address adolescent obesity with regards to health-related quality of life and demographic variables such as sex.

CONCLUSION

In this study, the findings indicate that obese adolescents have a lower HRQOL compared to non-overweight adolescents irrespective of their sex, ethnicity and socioeconomic status. Further, adolescent males have a higher HRQOL compared to adolescent females irrespective of their weight status, household income and ethnicity.

FUTURE DIRECTION

Determining the relationship between weight status, demographic variables and HRQOL in adolescents could stimulate the development of interventions geared towards improving HRQOL in overweight and obese adolescents. It would also inform the need for healthcare providers to assess for HRQOL in overweight and obese adolescents while encouraging lifestyle changes such as increasing physical activity. Lastly, healthcare providers should continue to be advocates for these adolescents by working in collaboration with the patients, caregivers, communities and policy makers.

REFERENCES

- Fryar CD, Carrol MD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of obesity among children and adolescents: United States, Trends 1963-1965 through 2009-2010. Health E-stat(CDC), 2012.
- Healthypeople2020.[cited Apr 2016]. Available from: www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/nutrition-and-weightstatus/objectives.
- National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute.
 Disease and Condition Index: What are overweight and obesity?
 Bethesda, MD: National Institute of Health, 2010.
- WHO consultation on Obesity. Obesity:preventing and managing the global epidemic. *Report of a WHO consultation*. Geneva, Switzerland.
 2000: p. 253.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Overweight and Obesity;
 Childhood overweight and obesity [cited Apr 2015]. Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/childhood.html.
- 6. Bibiloni M, Pons A, Tur JA. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in adolescents: A systematic review. *ISRN Obesity*. 2013:1-14.
- Delamater AM, Pulgaron ER, Daigre A. Obesity in adolescence. In: O'Donahue WT, Benuto LT, Tolle LW, Editor. Handbook of adolescent health psychology. New York: Springer Science & Business media;2013. p 587-618.

- Schonfeld-Warden N, Warden CH. Pediatric Obesity: An overview of etiology and treatment. *Pediatr Clin North Am.* 1997; 44(2): p. 339-361.
- Raj M. Obesity and cardiovascular risk in children and adolescents. Indian J Endocrinol Metabolism. 2012; 16: p. 13-19.
- Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, Thomson B, Graetz N, Margono C, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The Lancet.* 2014; **384**(9945): p. 766-781.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Trends in the prevalence of obesity, dietary behaviors, and weight control practices:National YRBS 1991-2013. [cited Dec 2016]. Available from: www.cdc.gov/yrbss.
- NM-IBIS.[cited Jan 2015]. Available from: https://ibis.health.state.nm.us/indicator/view/ObesityYouth.Year.NM.
- Mayes JS, Watson G. Direct effects of sex steroid hormones on adipose tissues and obesity. *Obes Rev.* 2004; 5(4): p. 197-216.
- 14. Law J, Bloor I, Budge H, Symonds ME. The influence of sex steroids on adipose tissue growth and function. *Horm Mol Biol Clin Invest.* 2014; **19**(1): p. 13-24.
- Bjorntorp P. The regulation of adipose tissue distribution in humans. *Int J Obes.* 1996; **20**: p. 291-302.

- Barnes HV. Physical growth and development during puberty. *Med clin North Am.* 1975; **59**(6): p. 1305-1317.
- Ogden CL, Carrol MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM., Prevalence of Childhood and Adult Obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. *JAMA*. 2014; **311**(8): p. 806-814.
- New Mexico's Indicator-Based Information System (NM-IBIS).[cited Feb 2017]. Available from: https://ibis.health.state.nm.us/query/result/yrrs/YRRS3_PENutriWgt/Overw t.html.
- Kaushik P, Anderson J. Obesity: epigenetic aspects. *BioMol concepts*.
 2016; 7(3): p. 145-155.
- Guay S, Brisson D, Lamarche B, Biron S, Lescelleur O, et al. ADRB3 gene promoter DNA methylation in blood and visceral adipose tissue is associated with metabolic disturbances in men. *Epigenomics*. 2014; 6: p. 33-43.
- Campion J, Milagro F, Martinez JA. Individuality and epigenetics in obesity. *Obes Rev.* 2009; **10**: p. 383-392.
- 22. Willyard C. The family roots of obesity. *Nature*. 2014; **504**: p. s58-s60.
- Kumanyika S. Environmental influences on childhood obesity: Ethnic and Cultural influences in Contex*t. Physiol & Behav.* 2008; **94**: p. 61-70.

- Hulsof K, Lowik M, Kok FJ, et al. Diet and other life-style factors in high and low socioeconomic groups (Dutch Nutrition Surveillance System). *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 1991; **45**(9): p. 441-450.
- National Center for Children in Poverty. New Mexico demographics of poor children. [cited March 2017]. Available from: <u>http://www.nccp.org/profiles/NM_profile_7.html</u>.
- 26. Reising V, Hobbiss A. Food deserts and how to tackle them: a study of one city's approach. *Health Educ J.* 2000; **59**(2): p. 137-149.
- 27. United States Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service.
 [cited Dec 2016].Available from: https://www.ers.usda.gov/data/fooddesert/fooddesert.html.
- Cecil-Karb R, Grogan-Kaylor A. Childhood body mass index in community context: Neighborhood safety, television viewing and growth trajectories of BMI. *Health Soc Work.* 2009; **14**: p. 169-177.
- Guo SS, Chumlea WC. Tracking of body mass index in children in relation to overweight in adulthood. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1999; **70**: p. 145-148.
- 30. Wenig CM. The impact of BMI on direct costs in children and adolescents: empirical findings for the German Healthcare System based on the KIGGS study. Eur J Health Econ. 2012: p. 39-50.
- 31. Breitfelder A, Wenig CM, Wolfenstetter SB, Rzehak P, Menn P, et al.Relative weight related costs of healthcare use by children-results from

the two German birth cohorts, GINI-plus and LISA-plus. *Econ Hum Biol.* 2011; p. 302-15.

- 32. Cawley J. The economics of childhood obesity. *Health Aff(Millwood)*.2010: p. 364-371.
- Trasande L, Chatterjee S. The impact of obesity on health service utilization and costs in childhood. *Obesity(Silver Spring).* 2009: p. 1749-1754.
- Medicaid.gov. FFY 2015 number of children ever enrolled in medicaid and CHIP. [cited Dec 2016]. Available from: <u>https://www.medicaid.gov/chip/downloads/fy-2015-childrens-enrollment-report.pdf</u>.
- Medicaid.gov. CMS-21 Annual CHIP expenditures reports. [cited Dec 2016]. Available from: <u>https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid-chip-programinformation/by-topics/data-and-systems/downloads/collection-</u> systems/fmr-chip-expend2012.pdf.
- Serdula MK, Ivery D, Coates RJ, Freedman DS, et al. Do obese children become obese adults? A review of the literature. *Prev Med.* 1993: p. 167-177.
- Lustig RH, Weiss R. Disorders of energy balance.Pediatric Endocrinology.
 Philadelphia.Saunders Elsevier: 2008. p. 788-838.

- Nicolai JP, Lupiani JH, Wolf AJ. An integrative approach to obesity, in Integrative Medicine. Philadelphia, PA: W. B. Saunders(Elsevier);2012. p. 364-375.
- Sullivan PW, Ghushchyan VH, Ben-Joseph R. The impact of obesity on diabetes, hyperlipidemia and hypertension in the United States. *Qual Life Res.* 2008; **17**: p. 1063-1071.
- Kannan H, Thompson S, Bolge S. Economic and humanistic outcomes associated with comorbid type 2 diabetes, high cholesterol and hypertension among individuals who are overweight or obese. *J Occup Environ Med.* 2008; **50**(5): p. 542-549.
- 41. Ucan O, Ovayolu N. Relationship between diabetes mellitus, hypertension and obesity, and health-related quality of life in Gaziantep, a central south-easterncity in Turkey. *J Clin Nurs.* 2010; **19**: p. 2511-2519.
- 42. Must A, Strauss RS. Strauss, Risks and consequences of childhood and adolescent obesity. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.* 1999; **23**(2): p. 2-11.
- Varni JW, Burwinkle TM, Jacobs JR, Gottschalk M, Kaufman F, Jones KL.
 The PedsQL in type 1 and type 2 diabetes: reliability and validityof the
 Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory Generic Core Scales and type 1
 Diabetes Module. *Diabetes Care.* 2003; 26: p. 631-637.
- 44. Naughton MJ, Ruggiero AM, Lawrence JM, Imperatore G, Klingensmith GJ, Waitzfelder B, et al. Health-related quality of life of children and

adolescents with type 1 or type 2 diabetes mellitus: SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2008; **162**: p. 649-657.

- Rhodes ET, Goran M, Lieu TA, Lustig RH, Prosser LA, et al. Health-Related Quality of Life in Adolescents with or at Risk for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *J Pediatr.* 2012; **160**: p. 911-917.
- Anderson BJ, Cullen K, McKay S. Quality of life, family behavior, and health outcomes in children with type 2 diabetes. *Pediatr Ann.* 2005; **34**: p. 722-729.
- Wilfley D, Berkowitz R, Goebel-Fabbri A, Hirst K, levers-Landis C, Lipman TH, et al. Binge eating, mood, and quality of life in youth with type 2 diabetes: baseline data from the TODAY study. *Diabetes Care.* 2011; 34: p. 858-860.
- Pinhas-Hamiel O, Zeitler P. The global spread of type 2 diabetes mellitus in children and adolescents. *J Pediatr.* 2005; **146**: p. 693-700.
- 49. Dabelea D, Bell RA, D'Agostino RB Jr, et al., Writing Group for the SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study Group Incidence of diabetes in youth in the United states. *JAMA*. 2007; **297**: p. 2716-2724.
- 50. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.National diabetes factsheet: national estimates and general information on diabetes and prediabetes in the United States, 2011. 2011, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Atlanta, GA: .

- 51. Edate S, Debone R, Paul SP. Diabetes in children. *Community Pract.*2015; 88(7): p. 30-35.
- Marcovecchio M, Chiarelli F. Microvascular disease in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes and obesity. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2011;
 26(3): p. 365-375.
- Constantine S. Management of pediatric and adolescent type 2 diabetes.
 Intl J Pediat., 2013: p. 1-9.
- 54. Wang Y, Wu Y, Wilson RF, et al. Childhood obesity prevention program: comparative effectiveness review and meta-analysis. Comparative effectiveness review 2013, Agency for Healthcare Research and quality: Rockville, MD.
- 55. Nixon CA, Moore H, Douthwaite W. et al. Identifying effective behavioral models and behaviour changes strategies underpinning preschool and school based obesity prevention interventions aimed at 4-6 year olds: a systematic review. *Obes Rev.* 2012; **13**: p. 106-17.
- Khambalia AZ, Dickinson S, Hardy LL, Gill T, Baur LA. A synthesis of existing systematic reviews and meta-analysis of school based behavioral interventions for controllling and preventing obesity. *Obes Rev.* 2012; 13: p. 214-33.

- 57. Larson N, Ward D, Neelon SB, Stony M. What role can childcare setting play in obesity prevention? A review of the evidence and call for research efforts. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2011; **111**: p. 1343-62.
- Rosner B, Prineas R, Daniels SR, Loggie J. Blood pressure differences between blacks and whites in relation to body size among US children and adolescents. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2000; **151**: p. 1007-1019.
- Ippisch HM, Inge TH, Daniels SR, Wang B, Khoury PR, Witt SA, Glascock
 BJ, Garcia VF, Kimball TR. Reversibility of cardiac abnormalities in morbidly obese adolescents. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2008; **51**: p. 1342-1348.
- 60. Kotchen TA. Obesity related hypertension: Epidemiology,pathophysiology and clinical management. *Am J Hypertens.* 2010; **23**: p. 1170-1178.
- Friedland O, Nemet D, Gorodnitsky N, Wolach B, Eliakim A. Obesity and lipid profiles in children and adolescents. *J Ped Endocrinol metab.* 2002;
 15: p. 1011-1016.
- I'Allemand D, Wiegand S, Reinehr T, Muller J, Wabitsch M, Widhalm K et al. Cardiovascular risk in 26008 European overweight children as established by a multicenter database. *Obesity (Silver Spring).* 2008; 16: p. 1672-1679.
- Banis H, Varni J, Wallander J, Psychological and social adjustment of obese children and their families. *Child Care Health Develop.* 1988: p. 173.

- Friedlander SL, Larkin EK, Rosen CL., Palermo TM., Redline S.
 Decreased quality of life associated with obesity in school-aged children.
 Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2003; 157: p. 1206-11.
- 65. Schwimmer JB, Burwinkle TM, Varni JW. Health -related quality of life of severely obese children and adolescents. *JAMA*. 2003; **289**: p. 1813-9.
- Puhl RM, Heuer C. The stigma of obesity: a review and update. *Obesity*.
 2009; **17**: p. 941-964.
- 67. Griffiths LJ, Parsons T, Hill AJ. Self-esteem and quality of life in obese children and adolescents: a systematic review. *Int J Pediatr Obes.* 2010;
 5: p. 282-304.
- Swallen KC, Reither EN, Haas SA, Meier AM, Overweight, obesity and health related quality of life among adolescents: The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. *Pediatr.* 2005; **115**: p. 340-347.
- 69. Murphy B, Herman H, Hawthorne G, Pinzone T, Evert H. WHOQOL-100,WHOQOL BREF and CA-WHOQOL INSTRUMENTS user's manual and interpretation Guide. Australia: Australian: The World health organization quality of life(WHOQOL) study, 2000.
- Varni JW, Burwinkle T, Seid M, Skarr D. The PedsQL 4.0 as a pediatric population health measure: feasibility, reliability and validity. *Ambul Pediatr.* 2003; 3: p. 329-341.

- 71. Hofsteenge GH, Weijs P, Delemarre-van de Waal HA, Wit M, Chinapaw MJ., Effect of the GO4iT multidisciplinary group treatment for obese adolescents on HRQOL: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Public Health.* 2013; 13: p. 939.
- 72. Wu XY, Ohinmaa A., Veugelers PJ. Diet quality, physical activity, body weight and health-related quality of life among grade five students in Canada. *Public Health Nutr.* 2011; **15**(1): p. 75-81.
- 73. Finne E, Reinehr T, Schaefer A, Winkel K, Kolip P. Changes in self-reported and parent-reported health-related quality of life in overweight children and adolescents participating in an outpatient training: findings from a 12-month follow-up study. *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* 2013; **11**: p. 1.
- Schor EL. The future pediatrician: promoting children's health and development. *J Pediatr.* 2007; **151**: p. 511-516.
- 75. Tsiros MD, Olds T, Buckley JD, Grimshaw P, Brennan L, et al. Health-related quality of life in obese children and adolescents. *Int J Obes.* 2009;
 33(4): p. 387-400.
- 76. Griffiths LJ, Parsons TJ, Hill AJ. Self esteem and quality of life in obese children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Int J Pediatr Obes.* 2010;
 5: p. 282-304.

- 77. Wille N, Erhart M, Petersen C, Raven-Sieberer U. The impact of overweight and obesity on health-related quality of life in children-results from an intervention study. *BMC Public Health.* 2008; 8: p. 421.
- 78. Raven-Sieberer U, Redegeld M, Bullinger M. Quality of life after inpatient rehabilitation in children with obesity. *Int J Obes*, 2001. **25**: p. S63-S65.
- Robbins JM, Mallya G, Polansky M, Schwarz DF. Prevalence, disparities and trends in obesity and severe obesity among students in the Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, school district, 2006-2010. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2012: 9.
- Schwimmer JB, Burwinkle T, Varni JW. Health-related quality of life of severely obese children and adolescents. *JAMA*. 2003; 289: p. 1813-1819.
- 81. Hughes AR, Farewell K, Harris D, Reilley JJ. Quality of life in a clinical sample of obese children. *Int J Obes.* 2007; **31**: p. 39-44.
- Lin C, Su C, Wang J, Ma H. Self-rated and parent rated quality of life(QOL) for community based obese and overweight children. *Fountain Acta Paediatrica.* 2013; **120**: p. 114-119.
- Varni JW, Limbers CA, Bryant WP, Wilson DP. The PedsQL
 Multidimensional fatigue scale in pediatric obesity: feasibility,relaibility and validity. *Int J Pediatr Obes.* 2010; 5: p. 34-42.

- Wille N, Bullinger M, Holl R, Hoffmeister U, Mann R, Goldapp C, et al.
 Health-related quality of life in overweight and obese youths: results of a multicenter study. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. 2010; 8: p. 36.
- 85. Hoffmeister U, Bullinger M, Van Egmond-Frohlich A. et al. Ubergewicht und Adipositas in kindheit und jugend: Evaluation der ambulanten und stationaren versorgung in Deutschland in der 'Evakuj-studie'.
 Bundesgesundheits-blatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz.
 2011; 54: p. 603-610.
- Afsane Riazi, Sania Shakoor, Isobel Dundas, Christine Eiser, Sheila A McKenzie., Health related quality of life in a clinical sample of obese children and adolescents. *Health Quality Life Outcomes*. 2010: p. 134.
- Gopinath B, Baur LA, Burlutsky G, Mitchell P. Adiposity adversely influences quality of life among adolescents. *J Adolesc Health.* 2013;
 52(5): p. 649-653.
- Stern M, Mazzeo SE, Gerke CK, Porter JS, Bean MK, Laver JH. Gender, ethnicity, psychosocial factors and quality of life among severely overweight, treatment seeking adolescents. *J Pediatr Psychol.* 2007; 32: p. 90-94.
- 89. Modi AC, Zeller MH. Validation of a parent-proxy, obesity-specific quality of life measure: Sizing them up. *Obesity*. 2008; **16**: p. 2624-2633.

- Michel G, Bisegger C, Fuhr D, Abel T. Age and gender differences in health-related quality of life in children and adolescents in Europe: a multilevel analysis. *Qual Life Res.* 2009; 18: p. 1147-1157.
- 91. Ravens-Sieberer U, Bettge S, Erhart M. QOL in children and adolescents-Results from the child and adolescent survey. *Bundesgesundheitsbl-Gesundheitsforsch-Gesundheitsschutz.* 2003; **46**: p. 340-345.
- Jozefiak T, Larsson B, Wichstrom L, Mattejat F, Ravens-Sieberer U.
 Quality of life as reported by school children and their parents: a cross sectional survey. *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* 2008; 6: p. 34.
- Fallon EM, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Norman AC, McDuffie JR, Taylor ED, et al. Health-related quality of life in overweight and non-overweight black and white adolescents. *J Pediatr.* 2005; **147**: p. 443-450.
- Kolotkin RL, Zelle M, Modi AC, et al. Assessing weight-related quality of life in adolescents. *Obesity*. 2006; 14: p. 448-457
- Modi AC, Loux TJ, Bell SK, Harmon CM, Inge TH, Zeller MH. Weightspecific health-related quality of life in adolescents with extreme obesity. *Obesity.* 2008; 16: p. 2266-2271.
- 96. Arif AA, Rohrer JE. The relationship between obesity, hyperglycemia symptoms and HRQOL among Hispanic and non-Hispanic white children and adolescents. *BMC Fam pract.* 2006; **7**: p. 3.

- 97. Wallander JL, Taylor WC, Grunbaum JA, Franklin FA, Harrison GG,
 Kelder SH, Schuster MA. Weight status, quality of life and self-concept in
 African American, Hispanic and white 5th grade children. *Obesity.* 2009;
 17: p. 1363-1368.
- 98. Krause L, Ellert U, Kroll LE, Lampert T. Health-related quality of life of overweight and obese adolescents: what differences can be seen by socio-economic status and education? *Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz.* 2014; **57**(4): p. 445-54.
- Burkert NT, Freidl W, Muckenhuber J, Grobschadl F, Stronegger WJ, Rasky E. Social status as a mediator of self-perceived health, quality of life and health-related behavior in obesity. *Gesundheitswesen.* 2013; **75**(7): p. 101-107.
- Braveman P, Barclay C. Health disparities beginning in childhood: a lifecourse perspective. *Pediatr. 2009;* **124**(3): p. S163-S175.
- Schuster MA, Elliot MN, Kanouse D, Wallander JL, Tortolero SR, Ratner BA. et al. Racial and ethnic health disparities among fifth-graders in three cities. *New Engl J Med.* 2012; **367**: p. 735-745.
- 102. Becker GS, Tomes N. Human capital and the rise and fall of families. In Human capital: A theoretical and empirical analysis with special references to education. 3rd ed. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press;1994.
- 103. Blau DM. The effect of income on child development. *Rev Econ Stat.*1999; **81**(2): p. 261-276.
- Reading R, Reynolds S. Debt, social disadvantage and maternal depression. Soc Sci Med. 2001; 53(4): p. 441-453.
- 105. Kiernan KE, Huerta M. Economic deprivation, maternal depression, parenting and children's cognitive and emotional development in early childhood. *Br J Sociol.* 2008; **59**(4): p. 783-806.
- IOM. Preventing Childhood Obesity: Health in the Balance. Washington, DC. 2005.
- 107. Kong AS, Sussman AL, Yahne C, Skipper BJ, Burge MR, Davis SM. School-Based Health Center Intervention Improves Body Mass Index in Overweight and Obese Adolescents. *J Obes.* 2013: p. 1-10.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Center for Health Statistics NHANES III: Anthropometric procedures. 1998; 98-4083]. [cited May 2016]. Available from:

http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhanes/nhanes_07_08/manual_an.pdf.

109. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.Childhood Overweight and Obesity.[cited May 2016]. Available from:

http://www.cdc.gov/growthcharts/percentile_data_files.htm.

110. Varni JW. The PedsQL measurement model for the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory. [cited June 2016]. Available from: www.pedsql.org/pedsql2.html.

- 111. Shoup JA, Gattshall M, Dandamudi P, Estabrooks P. Physical activity, quality of life and weight status in overweight children. *Qual Life Res.* 2008; **17**: p. 407-412.
- 112. Varni JW, Burwinkle TM, Seid M. The PedsQL 4.0 as a school population health measure:feasibility, reliability and validity. *Qual Life Res.* 2006; **15**(2): p. 203-215.
- 113. Pinhas-Hamiel O, Singer S, Pilpel N, Fradkin A, Modan D, Reichman B. Health-related quality of life among children and adolescents: associations with obesity. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2006; **30**(2): p. 267-72.
- 114. Cluster analysis: Basic concepts and algorithms.[cited 2016]. Available from: www.users.cs.umn.edu/~kumar/dmbook/ch8.pdf.
- 115. Geier AB, Foster GD, Womble LG, et al. The relationship between relative weight and school attendance among elementary school children. *Obesity* (*Silver Spring*). 2007; **15**(8): p. 2157-2161.
- 116. Bonsergent E, Benie-Bi J, Baumann C, Agrinier N, Tessier S, Thilly N, Briancon S. Effect of gender on the association between weight status and health-related quality of life in adolescents. *BMC*. 2012; **12**: p. 997.
- 117. Keating CL, Moodie ML, Swinburn BA. The health-related quality of life of overweight and obese adolescents-a study measuring body mass index and adolescents- reported perceptions. *Int J Pediatr Obes.* 2011; 6(5-6): p. 434-441.

- 118. Kunkel N, Oliveira WF, Peres MA. Overweight and health-related quality of life in adolescents of Florianopolis, Southern Brazil. *Rev Saude Publica*. 2009; 43(2): p. 226-235.
- Serdula MK, Collins ME, Williamson DF, Anda RF, Pamuk E, Byers TE.
 Weight control practices of US adolescents and adults. *Ann Intern Med.*1993; **119**(7): p. 667-671.
- Bissegger C, Cloetta B, Von Rueden U, Abel T, Ravens-Sieberer U.
 Health-related quality of life: gender differences in childhood and adolescence. Soz Praventivmed. 2005; 50(5): p. 281-291.
- 121. Kinge JM, Morris S. Socioeconomic variation in the impact of obesity on health-related quality of life. *Soc Sci Med.* 2010; **71**: p. 1864-1871.
- 122. Fontaine KR, Barofsky I. Obesity and health-related quality of life. Obes *Rev.* 2001; 2(3): p.173-182.